
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

DEED, TRUST 
AND 

OBLIGATIONS 
COMMITTEE

Councillor A R Lloyd (Chairman)
Councillor J A Kite MBE (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor S H Brown
Councillor M J Davis
Councillor K M Kelly
Councillor R Lees

Councillor T A Maddison
Councillor D Swinerd

Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow

Mr R Estcourt (Independent Member)
Mrs E Evans (Independent Member)
Mr M Hussey (Independent Member)
Mr S Maynard (Independent Member)

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on

Wednesday 1 June 2016

at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford

Managing Director
23 May 2016



This page is intentionally left blank



DEED, TRUST AND OBLIGATIONS COMMITTEE
AGENDA

Wednesday 1 June 2016

Guiding Principles 
 
In its decision making, the Charitable Trustee is bound by a number of guiding principles: 
 
(a) that it  acts  reasonably  i.e.  decisions should  be  within  the  range  of decisions which a 

reasonable body of trustees could have made; 
 
(b) that it acts within  the powers conferred upon  it and  the established  rules for procedures for 

dealing with issues of the kind under consideration; 
 
(c)  that it acts in good faith; 
 
(d) that it adequately informs itself in order to make the decision in question, including  a  

comprehensive  risk  analysis  and  where  necessary,  makes further  enquiries  and  where  
appropriate,  considers  legal  and  other professional advice; 

 
(e) that it does not take into consideration any factors which it is not proper for it to take into 

account; 
 
(f) that it considers any factors which it should take into account.

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director.

3. Confirmation of Minutes of the meeting held on 13 October 2015 
(Pages 1 - 4)

4. Chairman's Update 

5. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their place on the agenda. 

6. Hesketh Park and Dartford Cricket Club - Advertising Hoardings 
(Pages 5 - 18)
To consider proposals by Dartford Cricket Club Limited to erect 
advertising hoardings on the land at Hesketh Park owned by the 
Council as Charitable Trustee.





1

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

DEED, TRUST AND OBLIGATIONS COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Deed, Trust and Obligations Committee held on 
Tuesday 13 October 2015.

PRESENT: Councillor A R Lloyd (Chairman)
Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor S H Brown
Councillor M J Davis
Councillor R Lees
Councillor T A Maddison
Councillor D Swinerd
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow

INDEPENDENT 
MEMBERS:

Mr R Estcourt, Mr M Hussey, Mr S Maynard 

ABSENT: Councillor K M Kelly
Mrs Elissia Evans (Independent Member)

Dartford Borough Council Officers:-

Sarah Martin – Strategic Director (Internal Services)
Alan Twyman – Member Services Manager

6. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Keith Kelly. 

7. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

The Member Services Manager confirmed that the Head of Legal Services 
had advised that Cabinet members present were not conflicted over any items 
contained in the agenda, including matters pertaining to the Grounds 
Maintenance Charges of Charitable Lands. 

8. CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 27 JULY 2015 

The minutes of the meeting held on 27 July 2015 were confirmed as an 
accurate record.



CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

9. CHAIRMAN'S UPDATE 

The Chairman announced that he had just been given a letter from Mr Ryan in 
response to the discussion at the Committee’s last meeting. This would be 
circulated to members of the Committee after the meeting for information.

The Chairman also informed Members that the Charity Commission had 
requested some additional information relating to the leases on Charitable 
Land. This request was being dealt with.

10. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

11. THE KIDD LEGACY TRUSTEE'S ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 
2014/15 

The Committee considered the Kidd Legacy Trustee’s annual report and 
accounts for 2014/15. Members questioned whether the Trustee’s banker was 
the Co-Operative Bank for the entire financial year as listed in the annual 
report given that the Council had switched its corporate banking 
arrangements to Lloyds bank. The Strategic Director (Internal Services) 
advised Members that this would be checked and altered if necessary and 
also pointed out a small correction to the figure shown for the net surplus for 
unrestricted funds for 2014/15 which should have been un-bracketed. It was 
also noted that the committee membership listed in the annual report were the 
current members rather than the members who had served during the period 
1 April 2014-31 March 2015 covered by the annual report and that this would 
need to be changed.

A member asked for clarification about the investments which were 
generating the investment income shown in the Income and Expenditure 
Account and was advised that this represented income generated by 
investment of the £270,000 held by the trust as investment permanent 
endowment. It was noted that this income was slightly lower than in the 
previous year due to fluctuating interest rates. The Strategic Director (Internal 
Services) agreed to supply further details of the trusts investments to Mr 
Maynard for information. 

A member also advised that paragraph 2.13 of the Annual Report stated that 
all members of the Committee had received training regarding their duties but 
that he had not been trained. Training records would be checked and training 
would be arranged for any Member who had not already received this.
 

RESOLVED:

1. That, subject to the amendments outlined above, the draft Annual 
Report and Accounts for the period 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015, be 
approved.

2.That  the Committee Chairman be authorised to sign the amended  
Annual Report and Accounts on the Trustee’s behalf.



DEED, TRUST AND OBLIGATIONS COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 13 OCTOBER 2015

3

3.That the Managing Director be authorised to file the Annual Update for 
the financial year 2014/15 with the Charity Commission, on the Trustee’s 
behalf.

12. CHILDREN'S PLAYING FIELD AND RECREATION GROUND, SAVOY 
ROAD - TRUSTEE'S ANNUAL REPORT, ACCOUNTS AND UPDATE 
2014/15 

The Committee considered the Trustee’s Annual Report for 1 April 2014-31 
March 2015 relating to the Children’s Playing Field and Recreation Ground, 
Savoy Road, Dartford, Kent. The Committee noted that the committee 
membership listed in the Annual Report were the current members rather than 
the members who had served during the period covered by the Annual Report 
and that this would need to be amended. 

RESOLVED:

1. That, subject to amending the Committee membership listed in 
paragraph 2.9 of the Annual Report to reflect the membership of the 
committee during the period covered by the report, the draft Annual 
Report and Accounts and Annual Update for the period 1 April 2014 
to 31 March 2015 be approved.

2. That the Committee, acting as charitable trustee, notes the financial 
position of the charity as set out in paragraph 3.9 of this report.

3. That the Managing Director be authorised to file the Annual Update for 
the financial year 2014/15, with the Charity Commission, on the 
Trustee’s behalf.

13. HESKETH PARK - TRUSTEE'S ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS AND 
ANNUAL UPDATE 2014/15 

The Committee considered the Trustee’s Annual Report, accounts and update 
for Hesketh Park for the financial year 2014/15. The Committee noted that the 
committee membership listed in the Annual Report were the current members 
rather than the members who had served during the period covered by the 
Annual Report and that this would need to be amended and also questioned 
whether the Co-Operative bank was the Trust’s banker for the entire financial 
year covered by the report given that the Council had switched its commercial 
banking to Lloyds Bank. The Committee also asked for confirmation that the 
proposed lease was with Hesketh Park Cricket Club Limited rather than 
Dartford Cricket Club (this was subsequently checked and the proposed 
lessee is Dartford Cricket Club Limited). These matters would be checked and 
the Annual Report and Accounts amended if applicable. 

A Member asked whether there was a backup plan for Hesketh Park if the 
proposed lease fell through and was advised that, given the likely strength of 



CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

interest in the facilities, it would be possible to attract alternative prospective 
lessees if this became necessary. 

RESOLVED:

1. That, subject to the amendments detailed above, the draft Annual 
Report and Accounts and Annual Update for Hesketh Park the period 
1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015, be approved.

2. That the Committee notes that future rental income arising from the 
lease of land to the Dartford Cricket Club Limited will need to be offset 
against the grounds maintenance costs incurred by the Council on the 
charity’s behalf.

14. CHARITY COMMISSION'S 'ESSENTIAL TRUSTEE' GUIDANCE 

The Committee welcomed the publication of the Charity Commission’s 
guidance document for trustees, “The Essential Trustee: What you need to 
know, what you need to do”, which offered clear and practical guidance and 
outlined the duties of a trustee.

RESOLVED:

That the Charity Commission guidance document, “The Essential 
Trustee: What you need to know, what you need to do”, be noted.

  

The meeting closed at 7.16 pm

Councillor A R Lloyd
CHAIRMAN



DEED, TRUST AND OBLIGATIONS COMMITTEE
1 June 2016

HESKETH PARK AND DARTFORD CRICKET CLUB – 
ADVERTISING HOARDINGS

1. Summary

1.1Members are asked to consider proposals by Dartford Cricket Club Limited to 
erect advertising hoardings on the land at Hesketh Park owned by the Council as 
Charitable Trustee.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

That, the Committee on behalf of the Council acting as Charitable Trustee:

2.1 considers the application for consent by Dartford Cricket Club Limited to erect 
advertising hoardings as detailed in Appendix A on the land at Hesketh Park 
proposed to be leased to it by the Council, in the Council’s capacity as 
Charitable Trustee; and

2.2 reviews the existing arrangements for such advertising hoardings and 
determines whether permission for such hoardings should to be granted to the 
Dartford Cricket Club Limited on the terms recommended by Watson Day LLP 
as set out in para.3.7 of the report.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Members should note that this report deals solely with the land held by 
the Council in its capacity as Charitable Trustee. The land held by the 
Council in its corporate capacity, upon which the new pavilion building 
and car park is situated, is not within the remit of this Committee.

3.2. Previous reports to this Committee have detailed the proposals by the 
Council as Charitable Trustee to grant a lease of land at Hesketh Park 
to Dartford Cricket Club Limited, most recently at the meeting of this 
Committee on 27 July 2015 [Min. No. 5]. 

3.3. At the time of writing this report the lease has been agreed with the 
solicitor acting for the Dartford Cricket Club Limited and is in the 
process of being completed.

3.4. Under the terms of the proposed lease Dartford Cricket Club Limited, 
as tenant, needs to seek consent from the Council as landlord (acting 
as Charitable Trustee),  for the erection of any advertising hoardings on 
the leased land. Depending on the type of hoarding, planning consent 
may be required from the Council acting as local planning authority. 
The Club would be responsible for obtaining the relevant consent.



DEED, TRUST AND OBLIGATIONS COMMITTEE
1 June 2016

3.5. The advertising hoardings on the site were first considered by this 
Committee at its meeting on 16 October 2012, and it was resolved as 
follows [Minute No.9]:

“(1) That the Committee, acting as Charitable Trustee, approves the 
proposal by Hesketh Park Sport Club Limited, commonly known 
as Dartford Cricket Club (the Club); to install sponsored 
advertising boards at identified locations around the Club’s 
cricket pitch as identified in [the drawing] to the submitted report;

  (2) That any gross income generated by the Club in excess of 
twenty thousand pounds sterling (£20,000) through the 
installation of the sponsored advertising boards be advised by 
the Club to the responsible Council Officer; with a view to the 
Trust giving further consideration to receiving a percentage of 
such gross annual income, as proposed [in] the submitted 
report.”

3.6 At the meeting of the Committee on 27 July 2015 Members were asked 
to consider whether the same arrangement for advertising hoardings 
should remain in place for the proposed new tenant, Dartford Cricket 
Club Limited, and in the context of the proposed new lease 
arrangements.

3.7 Watson Day LLP, instructed to provide valuation advice to the Council 
as Charitable Trustee, had commented that the existing arrangements 
were extremely generous to the Club. They advised that a 50:50 
apportionment of all gross income over £2,500 in any 12 month period 
would be much fairer to the Council as Charitable Trustee.

3.8 The Committee resolved as follows [Minute 5(2)]:

“That the Council Solicitor obtains details of the Dartford Cricket Club 
Limited’s proposals for advertising hoardings on the site and that        
detailed recommendations be brought back to this Committee 
regarding the future arrangements proposed for the advertising 
hoardings and that such future arrangements include provision for 
regular reviews of any consent.” 

3.9 The Council have now received details from the Dartford Cricket Club 
Limited of the proposed advertising hoardings, and the expected level 
of income should all of this advertising space be sold. These details are 
set out in Appendices A and B. The Club have also explained how the 
income from such advertising hoardings will be used by the Club.

3.10 In considering the Council’s position as landowner, Officers have no 
concerns regarding the location or size of the proposed hoardings or 
the way that they will be affixed to the site.  However it will be for the 
Dartford Cricket Club Limited to apply to the Council as local planning 
authority for any advertisement consent that may be required for the 
proposals. 



DEED, TRUST AND OBLIGATIONS COMMITTEE
1 June 2016

3.11 The Club has estimated that the revenue over the 22 advertising 
hoardings will total between £2,200 to £4,400 per year. Those figures 
are on a net basis. Based on the cost of £150 for each hoarding, this 
would equate to an estimated gross income to the Club of between 
£5,500 and £7,700 per year. This would therefore exceed the gross 
income level of £2,500 above which Watson Day LLP has advised that 
the Council as Charitable Trustee should take an equal share in the 
income.

3.12 In the light of the professional advice from Watson Day LLP, Members 
are asked to consider whether consent for such advertising hoardings 
should be granted by the Council as Charitable Trustee and, if so, 
whether and on what basis any of the resulting income should be 
shared with the Council as Charitable Trustee. 

3.13 It would seem sensible for any arrangements for the advertising 
hoardings to be initially reviewed on an annual basis, with consent 
therefore being granted to the tenant for a period of one year or 
throughout the forthcoming cricket season (as appropriate). The 
position can then be reconsidered by this Committee at a future 
meeting if and when the tenant applies for further consent.

3.14 Members should be mindful that in considering this matter that they 
should at all times act in the best interests of the charity and in 
furtherance of its objects, as detailed in paragraph 4 below.

4. Relationship to the Object(s) of the Trust

4.1 The object of the charity is as set out in the original trusts, and 
confirmed in the governing Scheme of Management, namely the use of 
the land as a recreation ground for the use of the inhabitants of 
Dartford.

4.2 All charities have charitable purposes or ‘aims’ that are for the public 
benefit. The Charities Act 2011 highlights this by explicitly including 
public benefit in the definition of a charitable purpose. The Council in its 
capacity as Charitable Trustee must be satisfied that its activities fall 
within the charitable aims and are for the public benefit.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications for 
the Trust

Any share in the revenue from the advertising 
hoardings received by the charity would be used 
in the furtherance of its aims. Currently, the 
charity has few resources of its own and is 
dependent on the Council’s support to be able to 
maintain its grounds 



DEED, TRUST AND OBLIGATIONS COMMITTEE
1 June 2016

Legal Implications for the 
Trust

Under the proposed lease the tenant will require 
the landlord’s consent for the proposed 
advertising hoardings.

Risk Implications for the 
Trust

None at this stage

6. Appendices

Appendix A – Details of the proposed advertising hoardings. 

Appendix B – Note from Dartford Cricket Club Limited entitled “Dartford 
Cricket Club Operating Model” received by the Council on 19 April 
2016

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Sarah Cotton
(01322) 34118

Legal 
Services  
Strategic 
Directorate 
(Internal 
Services)

N/A







Dartford	Cricket	Club	Operating	Model	
	
Structure	&	Objectives	
Dartford	Cricket	Club’s	primary	objective,	as	stated	by	it’s	constitution	is	to	foster	and	promote	the	sport	of	
cricket	at	all	levels	within	the	local	community	and	within	the	sport,	providing	opportunities	to	the	whole	
community	for	recreation,	coaching	and	competitions.	It	has	always	has	been	run	as	a	’Non	Profit’	making	
Constituted	Sports	Club	and	the	constitution	goes	on	to	say	that	all	surpluses	will	be	used	to	maintain	and	
improve	the	Club,	no	surplus	will	be	distributed	other	than	to	another	non-profit	making	body	upon	winding	
up	or	dissolution	of	the	Club.		
	
In	February	2015,	to	ready	the	Club	for	life	in	the	new	pavilion,	members	approved	a	change	in	overall	
structure	whereby	Dartford	Cricket	Club	became	a	registered	Members	Co	Operative,	effectively	operating	
under	the	same	constitution	but	under	the	regulation	and	oversight	of	The	Financial	Conduct	Authority.	As	
part	of	this	new	structure	the	Club	re-established	Hesketh	Park	Sports	Club	Ltd	as	a	wholly	owned	subsidiary	
and	the	principle	trading	company	for	the	pavilion	and	any	activities	outside	of	purely	playing	cricket.	This	
primarily	serves	to	protect	members	from	liability	but	because	the	Club	is	rightfully	registered	as	a	Community	
Amateur	Sports	Club	(CASC),	exempt	from	Corporation	Tax,	HPSC	Ltd	is	permitted	to	donate	any	revenue	
generated	and	therefore	minimize	tax	liability.	Consequently	the	Club	is	are	able	to	maximise	what	it	raises	
from	trading	activities	as	well	as	the	traditional	sports	club	fund	raising	activities	all	of	which	go	a	long	way	
towards	the	aims	of	our	constitution.			
	
This	establishes	the	framework	for	how	we	operate	and	whilst	we	have	a	fantastic	new	building	and	all	the	
opportunities	that	affords	us	in	terms	of	potential	income	generation	it	is	not	without	it’s	cost	challenges	too.	
As	an	example,	cleaning	costs	have	increased	c500%	as	the	buildings	are	very	different	and	the	new	one	is	in	
constant	use.	We	also	have	to	ensure	we	are	making	adequate	provision	for	the	ongoing	upkeep	and	
replacement	of	the	fixtures	&	fittings	and	the	look	of	the	new	building.	
	
Success	&	Cost	Challenges	
An	ECB	survey	in	2014	concluded	that	the	numbers	participating	in	cricket	in	England	&	Wales	had	reduced	by	
7%.	However	we	have	seen	a	significantly	different	story	in	Dartford	because	of	the	work	and	investment	
made	in	recent	years,	much	of	which	has	been	the	subject	of	considerable	support	from	Dartford	Borough	
Council.	Since	2012	the	Club	has	seen	an	increase	in	senior	sides	from	4	Saturday	&	1	Sunday	to	5,	sometimes	
6	on	a	Saturday	and	2	on	Sunday.	The	number	under	the	age	of	17	playing	has	outstripped	even	this	success	
with	numbers	increasing	from	c100	in	2012	to	168	in	2015	with	the	number	of	teams	almost	doubling	to	ten	
in	2015.	A	major	contributory	factor	in	this	has	been	the	program	of	schools	coaching	which	has	meant	we	are	
now	proactively	working	in	both	primary	and	secondary	schools	across	the	Borough	providing	access	to	
cricket	and	spreading	the	word	about	the	Club	and	its	willingness	to	play	a	meaningful	role	in	the	Community	
as	a	Focus	Club..		
	
Not	only	have	numbers	increased	but	the	significant	investment	in	player	development	has	also	been	highly	
successful.	In	2015	the	1st	XI	gained	it’s	second	successive	promotion	to	now	be	in	the	Kent	Premier	League,	
the	highest	amateur	league	in	the	County;	the	2nd	XI	maintained	it’s	position	in	their	Kent	Premier	League;	the	
3rd	XI	won	it’s	league;	and	the	4th	XI	narrowly	missed	out	on	promotion.	From	a	junior	perspective	3	teams	
won	their	leagues	and	2	were	runners	up.	We	also	had	5	players	making	their	respective	County	squads	and	
around	20	juniors	regularly	playing	senior	cricket,	all-in-all	a	very	different	story	to	4	years	ago	when	the	Club	
had	no	county	players	and	just	5/6	juniors	playing	senior	cricket.		
	
This	increase	in	playing	numbers	has	necessitated	us	taking	on	further	responsibility	for	cricket	in	the	
community.		To	this	end	we	have	invested	in	a	3rd	ground	at	Oakfield	Park	in	addition	to	those	we	maintain	at	
Hesketh	Park	&	Waller	Park.	The	investment	in	the	playing	facilities	has	also	borne	fruit	in	recent	years	with	



the	ground	at	Hesketh	Park	winning	the	Counties	‘Pitch	Mark’	award	for	the	best	playing	surface	in	the	league	
winning	2	out	of	3	years	and	being	runner	up	last	year.	
	
Approximately	ten	years	ago,	in	the	knowledge	that	we	had	to	redevelop	the	Pavilion,	a	decision	was	taken	to	
establish	a	Pavilion	Sinking	Fund	to	create	a	contribution	towards	the	investment	needed	towards	a	new	
pavilion.		These	sums	are	clearly	identified	in	the	Clubs	audited	accounts.		Furthermore	there	have	been	years	
where	the	Club	has	been	able	to	add	to	this	sinking	fund	as	we’ve	generated	income	over	and	above	our	
normal	expenditure,	and	some	years	where	we	have	made	a	loss	and	had	to	reduce	our	general	funds.	The	
relatively	success	of	this,	albeit	modest	in	terms	of	the	overall	project	costs,	and	together	with	member	loans	
and	general	reserves	allowed	Dartford	Cricket	Club	and	its	members	to	contribute	c100k	to	the	overall	
redevelopment	costs	of	Hesketh	Park.	We	have,	however,	nearly	exhausted	both	the	Pavilion	sinking	fund	and	
also	the	Club’s	general	reserves	
			
Bar	revenue	has	always	and	will	continue	to	contribute	the	lion’s	share	of	the	Club’s	income.	However	
inevitably	we	will	continue	to	rely	heavily	on	the	more	traditional	means	by	which	we	have	always	survived	
including	member	subs,	match	fees,	social	and	fund	raising,	grant	funding	and	sponsorship.		
	
Advertising	at	Hesketh	Park	
Attracting	community	partners	through	sponsorship	is	an	area	we	feel	we	can	increase	to	support	our	
cricketing	activities	and	the	development	of	the	social	environment	at	Hesketh	Park	yet	further.	We	currently	
have	permission	to	advertise	around	the	ground	at	Hesketh	Park	however	we	have	only	been	able	to	attract	
three	to	four	sponsors	to	date.	However	we	are	about	to	resubmit	an	application	to	develop	that	further	
increasing	the	number	to	twenty-two	permanent	boards	(16	on	the	fence	at	the	far	end	facing	the	pavilion,	
and	6	on	the	new	net	fencing)	in	the	hope	that	we	will	be	able	to	significantly	increase	the	take	up	from	local	
businesses.		
	
The	opportunity	for	sponsorship	also	includes	specific	exposure	on	our	members	playing	&	training	kit,	fixture	
books,	letterheads,	and	the	website.	The	portion	of	income	attributable	to	the	boards	themselves	after	
manufacturing	costs	(c£150)	we	calculate	to	be	in	the	region	of	£100-£200	per	board.	This	means	total	
revenue	from	22	boards	would	be	between	£2,200	and	£4,400.		
	
Conclusion	
As	a	not	for	profit	members	club	that	is	recognized	by	the	Financial	Conduct	Authority	as	a	Community	
Amateur	Sports	Club,	the	management	of	the	Club	are	firmly	of	the	opinion	that	our	aims	are	fully	aligned	
with	the	owners	of	the	charitable	land	that	the	Club	pays	to	maintain.		It	is	in	recognition	of	these	important	
factors	that	the	Club	now	requests	that	the	terms	of	the	Lease	will	reflect	the	above	and	permit	the	Club	to	
generate	advertising	revenues	that	will	be	used	in	full	for	the	benefit	of	the	community…..	as	they	are	used	
today	as	of	now	and	in	years	gone	by.	
	
	
	
	
	



 

 
 

Constitution and Rules 

1. Name 

The Club shall be called Dartford Cricket Club Limited, hereafter to be referred to as "the Club" and the Club shall be 
affiliated to the England and Wales Cricket Board through the Kent Cricket Board. Its colours shall be Navy Blue, Royal Blue 
and White and its ground and registered office is situated at Hesketh Park, Pilgrims Way, Dartford, Kent DA1 1QZ. 

2. Aims and Objectives 

The objects of the Club shall be  

a) The operation of an amateur cricket club and the furtherance of the game of Cricket and the provision of sporting 
and ancillary social amenities for the Members. 

b) to foster and promote the sport of cricket at all levels within the local community and within the sport, providing 
opportunities to the whole community for recreation, coaching and competition. 

c) to ensure that all members, playing and non-playing, abide by the ECB Code of Conduct which incorporates the 
Spirit of Cricket and by the Laws of Cricket. 

d) to ensure a duty of care to all members of the Club by adopting and implementing the ECB ‘Safe Hands – Cricket’s 
Policy for Safeguarding Children’ and any future versions of the Policy. 

e) to adopt and implement both the ECBs One Game Strategy and the club Inclusion and Diversity Policy and any 
future versions of these documents. 

f) to encourage all members to participate fully in the activities of the Club and the development of the game of 
cricket within the local community. 

The Club is a non-profit making organisation and all surpluses will be used to maintain and improve the Club.  No surplus will 
be distributed other than to another non-profit making body on winding up or dissolution of the Club. 

The laws of the game shall be in accordance with those laid down by Marylebone Cricket Club and a copy of the laws, 
together with these Rules, shall be kept in the Pavilion.  The Club shall be affiliated to the ECB, KCB and the Club Cricket 
Conference. 

3. The Office Bearers  

The Office Bearers shall consist of President, Chairman, General Secretary, Chief Operations Officer, Finance Officer, 
Chairman of Cricket, Fixture Secretary, Club Welfare Officer, Captains and Vice-Captains of all elevens all of whom shall act in 
an honorary capacity.  The offices of General Secretary and Finance Officer may, if thought necessary, be co-joined and an 
honorarium voted for services rendered.    

4. Management 

The Management of the Club shall be vested in a Management Committee consisting of the Chairman, Chief Operations 
Officer, and Finance Officer, together with up to three further members as recommended by the Management Committee. 
Each member of the Management Committee shall be elected at an Annual General Meeting of the Club and shall serve 
(subject to resignation, or to earlier termination as described below) for a maximum of three years.  On the expiry of such 
three-year period, a member may be re-elected at the relevant Annual General Meeting.  If at any particular Annual General 
Meeting of the Club no member shall have completed three years in office, one-third of the number of members then in 
office (to the nearest whole number) shall retire and be eligible for re-election, the one or those to retire being determined 
by the drawing of lots.   Subject as aforesaid, members of the Management Committee shall not be remunerated for 
performing their roles in the Club. 

Three members present in person shall form a quorum at meetings of the Management Committee. Six days’ notice of 



meeting shall be given to each and every Committee member. The Committee shall aim to meet once a month throughout 
the year and at such time and place, as they shall decide. The Chairman of the Management Committee shall have a 
deliberative as well as a casting vote. The Chairman has the right to attend and participate in any of the Clubs committees as 
deemed appropriate. 

Exceptionally, the Management Committee may propose for membership of the Management Committee a person who is 
not a full Member of the Club, but who is qualified for such membership by reason of particular attributes or experience.  
Any such appointment shall require ratification by the Members in General Meeting. 

5. The Management Committee 

The Management Committee shall have power to :- 

a) form sub-committees, the members of which need not be members of the Management Committee 

b) appoint until the succeeding Annual General Meeting another member to take the place of any member of the 
Management Committee who dies, retires, resigns or is unable or unwilling for any reason whatsoever to continue 
in office. Any such replacement member of the Management Committee shall only hold office until the next 
Annual General Meeting, and they will then be eligible for election for a full three-year period as described in Rule 
4 above. 

c) make bye-laws, not inconsistent with these Rules, which shall be binding until altered or repealed by the 
Management Committee or by a General Meeting, providing the said bye-laws be exhibited on the pavilion notice 
board for at least seven days before coming effective. All bye-laws made by the Management Committee shall 
come before the following General Meeting for ratification. 

d) suspend with a view to expulsion any Member of the Club whose conduct the Management Committee shall deem 
detrimental to the best interests of the Club, subject to the Members’ right of appeal within twenty-eight days to 
a Special General Meeting of the Club. 

e) remove from the roll of member-ship the name of anyone whose subscription is unpaid by the end of the current 
season for which such subscription is payable and to take whatever means are considered best to recover the 
arrears. 

f) borrow or raise or secure the payment of money, up to a maximum amount of £250,000,  in such manner and 
from such persons (including current or past members of the Club) as the Management Committee shall think fit 
for the purposes of or in connection with the general objectives of the Club as defined in its Constitution and Rules 
from time to time. 

g) Invest any surplus monies of the Club in any investment for the time being permitted by law for trustees; 

h) Remove from the Management Committee any member of that Committee who in the opinion of the remaining 
members of the Management Committee is not performing adequately their role on the Committee. 

6. The Selection Committee 

The Selection Committee shall consist of the Chairman of the Cricket Committee and Captains (or Vice Captains) of all 
elevens. The Chairman of the Cricket Committee may invite other members, such as the Club Coach, at his discretion. It shall 
meet on one day in each and every week throughout the cricket season, at such time or times and venues as they shall so 
decide, to select teams. 

7. The Finance Officer 

The Finance Officer shall, on behalf of the Club, receive all monies payable to the Club and make all payments due by the 
Club. He/she shall keep correct accounts and books showing therein the financial affairs and dealings of the Club. He/she 
shall prepare accounts as at 30th September in each year, which shall be audited by the Auditors.  He/she shall be entitled to 
sue for all sums due to the Club by Members or others on receiving instructions from the Management Committee.  All 
monies collected by him/her shall be lodged in a bank to the credit of an account to be kept in the name of the Club, such 
bank or branch to be operated by him/her.  All cheques drawn upon such account shall be signed by any two of the 
Chairman, Chief Operations Officer, Finance Officer and General Secretary. 

8. The Annual General Meeting 

The Annual General Meeting of the Club shall be held before 31st December in each and every year for the purpose of 
electing Office Bearers plus up to three such other additional Management Committee members as the Management 
Committee shall recommend per Rule 4 above, and shall each year to appoint one or more Auditors (who shall not be 
members of any committee) for the ensuing year and for transacting other business.  Fourteen days notice of the Annual 
General Meeting shall be given by circulars by the General Secretary to every Member, specifying the place, the day and 
hour of meeting. Attached thereto shall be a copy of the Club accounts for the relevant year, signed by the Finance Officer 
and the Auditors for the time being. At this meeting the General Secretary shall submit the Annual Report and the Finance 
Officer shall submit a report on the accounts. The Annual Report cannot be approved unless at least one qualified Auditor 
has audited the Club accounts. Fifteen members present in person shall form a quorum. 



9 Notice of Motion 

A notice of motion must be tabled for the consideration of any special business at the Annual General Meeting notice in 
writing to the General Secretary at least seven days before such meeting. 

10 A Special General meeting 

A special general meeting shall be called at any time by the authority of the Management Committee, and shall be called by 
the General Secretary upon receiving a written request signed by ten members. Such request must state the object for which 
the meeting is called. The meeting shall be held within thirty days of the receipt of the request by the General Secretary and 
no other subject whatsoever shall be discussed, referred to or dealt with at such meeting. Fourteen days’ notice of the 
meeting shall be given and fifteen members present in person shall form a quorum. 

11, The Club in General Meeting 

The Club in General meeting may elect one or more Vice-Presidents, Honorary Members and Life Members on a notice of 
motion tabled by the Management Committee.  

12. Membership of the Club  

Membership of the Club shall consist of those who have been awarded membership (see Section 13) or made application in 
writing for membership with name, address and contact details (and in the case of a Junior member, signature of 
parent/guardian).  The admission of a new member shall be notified to him/her by the General Secretary, who shall furnish 
him/her with a copy of the Constitution and Rules of the Club. 

 
(a) Membership of the Club shall be open to anyone interested in the sport of cricket on application regardless of sex, 

age, disability, ethnicity, nationality, sexual orientation, religion or other beliefs.  However, limitation of 
membership according to available facilities is allowable on a non discriminatory basis. 

(b) The Club may have different classes of membership and subscription on a non discriminatory and fair basis.  The 
Club will keep subscriptions at levels that will not pose a significant obstacle to people participating 

(c)  Application for membership of the Club shall be by completion of a membership application form and by payment 
of the relevant subscription/joining fees as determined by the Annual General Meeting of the club. No person shall 
be eligible to take part in the business of the Club or eligible for selection for any Club team unless the appropriate 
subscription has been paid by the specified date or membership has been agreed by the Committee. 

(d) The Management Committee may refuse membership, or remove it, only for good cause such as conduct or 
character likely to bring the Club or cricket into disrepute.  Appeal against refusal or removal may be made to the 
Management Committee who shall appoint an Appeals Committee to hear the appeal. 

(e) All members will be subject to the regulations of the Constitution and Rules and by joining the Club will be 
deemed to accept these regulations and any Codes of Conduct that the club has adopted.   

13. Classes of Membership 

Classes of membership are as follows: 

a) Full Member – Playing 

b) Junior Member – Member eligible to play for a junior team in the current year. (Junior membership also provides non-
playing membership status to the members’ family (father, mother, brothers and sisters). Family Membership can also 
be made available to cover more than one playing sibling. Junior members will not have the right to vote for captains 
and vice captains at the AGM. 

c) Student Playing Members - not eligible to play for a junior team but still in full time education on 1st April in the current 
year. 

d) Full Member – non-playing 

e) Life Members – A member who the General Committee has so elected in recognition of a significant contribution to 
the club through sustained on field performance and/or through representation at a higher level of cricket) 

f) Honorary Members- a former non-member who the Management Committee has so elected in recognition of a 
significant contribution to the club or to local cricket/sport generally. (Non member here includes an Associate as 
described below  



g) Vice President – a member who the Management Committee has so elected in recognition of significant contribution 
in a non-playing capacity or sustained loyalty to the Club. 

All members of the Club over the age of 18 years shall be eligible to vote at General Meetings of the Club.  No individual 
shall be entitled to more than one vote, even if they are Members in more than one category of membership. 

The Management Committee may from time to time also admit to the privileges of the pavilion and ground such individuals 
and/or members of any elected club or association as it may in its discretion decide.  Such persons shall be described as 
Associates. 

Associates shall not be entitled to : 

i) attend or vote at any General Meeting of the Club; 

ii) hold office in the Club; 

iii)  be elected or selected as members of any committees or sub-committees of the Club. 

A list of members in each category shall be maintained by the General Secretary and Finance Officer of the Club. 
 

Life Membership and Vice Presidency can be awarded to the same person through their contribution on and off the field. 
 
14. Guests 

Guests of the Club shall include Members’ partners, members and officers of Dartford Borough Council and members of 
opposing or competing teams.  Members may bring other guests to the Club and shall be responsible for recording the 
guests’ names in the Visitors’ Book 

 
15. Indemnity 

No responsibility for property of Members or Visitors left in any part of the Pavilion or ground will be accepted by the Club or 
any of its Committees, and a notice to this effect shall be kept posted in the Pavilion. 

 
16.  Annual Subscription 

The annual subscription for each class of membership shall be such as the Management Committee shall from time to time 
resolve and is payable in advance on or before 1st April.  The Finance Officer shall, in writing, request payment from all 
members whose subscriptions are unpaid on 1st June, and the names of all members whose subscriptions are unpaid by 
30th June may be posted in the Pavilion and such members may be deprived of the benefits of the Club. Without prejudice 
to this rule any member may apply by letter addressed to the Finance Officer for leave to pay the annual subscription by 
instalments as are specified in the application. The Finance Officer shall have the option to refer the application to the 
Management Committee for their decision, which when made shall be final.  

17 Accounts 

The Club shall keep proper books of account, and the Management Committee shall procure that an accurate report and 
statement of the financial position of the Club for and as at the end of its preceding accounting year is presented at every 
Annual General Meeting of the Club.  The annual accounts shall be audited (as required by the provisions of the Co-operative 
and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014) by one or more qualified auditors appointed for the purpose by the Members in 
General Meeting.  The Club shall comply with the provisions of the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2104 
regarding the appointment, removal, powers, rights, remuneration and duties of such auditors.  The auditors shall be 
entitled to attend any General Meeting and to receive all notices and other communications (other than voting forms) 
relating to any General Meeting that any Member is entitled to receive, and to speak at any General Meeting on any part of 
the business of the meeting that concerns them as auditors.  The remuneration of the auditors shall not exceed any limit 
imposed by or pursuant to the aforesaid Act. 

18 Shares 

 The following provisions shall govern the creation, ownership and disposal of shares in the Club: 
a) The capital of the Club shall consist of shares of a nominal value of £1 each.     
                 
b) Every adult Member of whatever category shall hold one share and no more in the capital of the Club.  No person who 

is not a Member shall be issued with a share. 
                 
c) Each Member who is aged 18 or over, of whatever category, at the date of which these Rules take effect shall be 

allotted one share.  £1 of the subscription next paid by each such Member shall be deemed to have been applied in 
subscribing for that share. 

                 



d) Any person admitted as an adult Member after the date on which these Rules take effect shall be allotted one share on 
admission to membership, and £1 of their first subscription shall be applied in subscribing for that share. 

 
e) No share will be withdrawable or transferable to or by any Member, and no interest, dividend or bonus shall be 

payable on any share, nor may it be held in trust for any other person, nor may it be put into the name of a nominee.  
Any Member transferring or purporting or attempting to transfer a share or any interest therein or any rights 
associated therewith shall, if the Board so decides, be deemed to have resigned from the Club as from the date of such 
transfer or purported or attempted transfer. 

 
f) The share of a Member shall be forfeited and cancelled when that Member submits their written resignation as a 

member or otherwise ceases to be a Member for whatever reason, and any amount that might be due to the Member 
in respect of such share shall thereupon become the property of the Club.  

 
g) On the death or bankruptcy of a Member, the successors in title of that member (i.e. personal representatives or 

trustee in bankruptcy) shall have no rights or claim in respect of that Member’s share, although the claims of such 
member in respect of other liabilities of the Club to the member still shall accrue to the successors in title. 

 

h) The Club shall not be required to issue a certificate to any Member in respect of the share allotted to that Member 
 
19. Resignations 

Members intending to resign must give notice in writing to the General Secretary previous to 31st March, otherwise they will 
be liable for the amount of their subscription for the current year. A former Member who has been struck off the roll of 
membership for non-payment of annual subscriptions shall not again be eligible for membership unless on payment of 
arrears of subscription. 

 
20. Alcoholic Refreshment 

The Club shall register and supply intoxicating liquor to Members and guests in accordance with the requirements of the 
Licensing Act in force 

 
21. Disputes 

All disputes shall be decided by the Management Committee, whose decision shall be final. Any matter not provided for in 
the foregoing Rules shall be determined by the Management Committee at its discretion.  All complaints must be made in 
writing to the General Secretary. 

 
22. Amendments  

These rules shall only be altered or varied at a General Meeting when two-thirds of those voting must be in favour of any 
change.  

 
23. Dissolution 
 

a) If at any General Meeting of the club, a resolution be passed calling for the dissolution of the club, the General 
Secretary shall immediately convene a Special General Meeting of the club to be held not less than one month 
thereafter to consider and vote on the resolution. 

b) The Club may be dissolved by a formal instrument of dissolution to which not less than 75% of the Members shall 
have given their consent as evidenced by their signatures to that instrument, and generally in accordance with the 
provisions of Sections 119 to 126 of the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014. 

c) The Management Committee will then be responsible for the orderly winding up of the club’s affairs. 
d) After settling all liabilities of the club, the Management Committee shall dispose of the net assets remaining to 

one or more of the following: 
• to another club with similar sports purposes which is a registered charity and/or  
• to another club with similar sports purposes which is a registered Community Amateur Sports Club 

and/or 
• for use for related community sports. 

 
 




	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of Minutes of the meeting held on 13 October 2015
	6 Hesketh Park and Dartford Cricket Club - Advertising Hoardings
	Hesketh Park Cricket Club Appendix A
	Appendix A - part 1 - Fence at far end
	Appendix A - part 2 - Fence at far end

	Hesketh Park Cricket Club Appendix B
	Appendix B - Part 1
	Appendix B  - Part 2



